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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

Plaintiff Michael Tesler’s state handgun permit was revoked after 

police found him outside his home disheveled, confused, and carrying a 

loaded gun. Tesler then filed this federal lawsuit against Westchester 

County and Judge Susan Cacace, the Westchester County firearms 

licensing officer who revoked his permit.1 Tesler’s complaint asserts 

that he is entitled to possess a handgun because he is a qualified retired 

law enforcement officer for purposes of the federal Law Enforcement 

Officers Safety Act (LEOSA), which authorizes retired and active duty 

law enforcement officers having certain specified qualifications to carry 

concealed firearms notwithstanding any contrary state or local 

laws.18 U.S.C. §§ 926B, 926C. 

Tesler originally sought a declaratory judgment stating his right 

to carry a concealed firearm pursuant to LEOSA, and an annulment of 

the state administrative decision revoking his handgun permit. But he 

subsequently discovered that he did not in fact satisfy LEOSA’s terms 

because he had failed to meet the statute’s requirements for firearms 

1 This brief is submitted on behalf of Judge Cacace. Westchester 
County is separately represented.  

                                      



training. Tesler then sought save his lawsuit from dismissal by asking 

the court to declare that he would be qualified to apply for a LEOSA 

permit if he took the necessary firearms training course.  

The district court (Seibel, J.) correctly determined that Tesler’s 

complaint fails to state a claim for relief because it is predicated on an 

assertion of rights under LEOSA, and Tesler concededly does not meet 

LEOSA’s requirements at the present time. The court also correctly 

concluded that allowing Tesler’s requested modification to the 

complaint would be futile because his proposed new claim implicates 

multiple future contingencies and thus fails on ripeness grounds.  

In light of Tesler’s failure to state a viable claim, the district court 

properly dismissed his suit. This Court should affirm.   

 

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

Tesler invoked the jurisdiction of the district court under 

28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1343, 1367(a). The district court dismissed his suit in 

an order dated November 18, 2014 and judgment dated 

November 19, 2014. (Appendix (“A.”) 5, 280-281.) Tesler filed a timely 
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notice of appeal on December 10, 2014. (A. 5, 282.) This Court has 

appellate jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1291. 

 

ISSUE PRESENTED 

Whether the district court properly dismissed this suit for failure 

to state a claim.  

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Statutory and Regulatory Background 

1. New York’s firearms licensing scheme 

New York generally prohibits the possession of firearms absent a 

license. Kachalsky v. County of Westchester, 701 F.3d 81, 85 (2d Cir. 

2012) (citing N.Y. Penal Law §§ 265.01-265.04, 265.20(a)(3)), cert. 

denied, 133 S. Ct. 1806 (2013). “Licenses are limited to those over 

twenty-one years of age, of good moral character, without a history of 

crime or mental illness, and ‘concerning whom no good cause exists for 

the denial of the license.’” Id. at 86 (quoting N.Y. Penal Law 

§ 400.00(1)). In Westchester County, a firearms safety course and test is 

also required. N.Y. Penal Law § 400.00(1)(l).  

State law provides that “a licensee at any time becoming ineligible 

to obtain a license under this section shall operate as a revocation of the 
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license.” Id. § 400.00(11)(a). Licensing officers also have authority, 

acting sua sponte or otherwise, to revoke or cancel a license.  Id.; Matter 

of O’Brien v. Keegan, 87 N.Y.2d 436, 439 (1996).  The licensing officer in 

Westchester County is a judge or justice of a court of record sitting as 

an administrative hearing officer. N.Y. Penal Law § 400.00(11).   

2. The Law Enforcement Officers Safety Act (LEOSA) 

The Law Enforcement Officers Safety Act, Pub. L. No. 108-277, 

118 Stat. 865 (2004) (commonly known as LEOSA or HR 218), is a federal 

statute authorizing retired and active duty law enforcement officers with 

specified qualifications to carry concealed firearms in certain places, 

notwithstanding any state or local prohibitions.2 18 U.S.C. §§ 926B 

(qualified active duty officers), 926C (qualified retired officers). To be a 

“qualified retired law enforcement officer” for purposes of LEOSA, an 

individual must have had firearms training meeting the standards for 

an active duty officer “during the most recent 12-month period.” Id. 

§ 926C(c)(4).  In addition, such an individual must obtain a certification 

2 Relevant portions of LEOSA are reproduced in an addendum to 
this brief. 
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attesting to his or her completion of LEOSA’s required annual firearms 

training. Id. § 926C(d). That certification may be provided by the 

individual’s State of residence, “a certified firearms instructor that is 

qualified to conduct a firearms qualification test for active duty officers 

within that State,” or “the agency from which the individual separated 

from service as a law enforcement officer.” Id. § 926C(d)(1), (2)(B).  

B. Factual Background 

1. The revocation of Tesler’s state handgun license 

The plaintiff in this suit, Michael Tesler, challenges his inability 

to possess a firearm following the revocation of his Westchester County 

handgun permit. According to Tesler’s complaint,3 Westchester County 

Court Judge Susan Cacace—sitting as an administrative licensing 

officer—revoked Tesler’s handgun license after police were called to 

Tesler’s house on September 12, 2013, by a bystander who reported 

seeing Tesler outside with a handgun. (A. 158-164.) 

3 The appendix, prepared by appellant, contains at A. 7-16 a copy 
of the complaint that is missing page 10. Accordingly, this brief cites to 
the copy of the complete complaint found at A. 158-168. 
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The complaint alleges that Judge Cacace held an evidentiary 

hearing to gather facts about Tesler’s encounter with the police, at 

which she heard testimony from Tesler, his wife, the bystander, and two 

police officers who had been at the scene. (A. 162.) Judge Cacace’s 

written decision found that the bystander had called 911 after seeing 

Tesler “in the middle of the street, appearing disheveled, . . . dazed and 

confused and walk[ing] slowly with his head down.” (A. 46 (Revocation 

Decision).)4 The bystander had watched Tesler walk “the width of 

approximately three houses[] while holding the handgun in his right hand 

by his side” and then “stumble[] back and forth, unsuccessfully attempting 

to climb the front steps of his house.”  (A. 46.) Judge Cacace found that, 

according to one of the police officers responding to the scene, Tesler was 

“disheveled and confused” and “standing/wandering outside his home.” (A. 

4 In reviewing a district court’s dismissal of suit for failure to state a 
claim, this Court considers “documents incorporated in [the complaint] 
by reference.” Stratte-McClure v. Morgan Stanley, 2015 WL 136312, at 
*4 (2d Cir. Jan. 12, 2015). A document is considered to be “referenced in 
the complaint and  . . . integral to its allegations” if the complaint “relies 
heavily upon the document’s terms and effect.”  Jewish People for the 
Betterment of Westhampton Beach v. Vill. of Westhampton Beach, 2015 
WL 542525, at *1 n.1 (2d Cir. Feb. 11, 2015) (per curiam) (quotation 
marks omitted). 
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46.) Tesler at first identified himself as a fellow officer on the job, but 

subsequently stated “that he had retired ten years earlier, that he lived in 

the house and was throwing out his garbage.” (A. 47.)  Tesler “didn’t know 

what day it was” and Tesler’s wife reported to the police that Tesler “may 

be suffering from, or showing signs[] of dementia.” (A. 47.)  

Based on the hearing testimony and the other evidence submitted 

in the license revocation proceeding, Judge Cacace concluded that 

Westchester County had “presented substantial evidence establishing 

that [Tesler] does not possess the judgment and character necessary for 

the possession of a pistol license.” (A. 49.) Judge Cacace noted that 

under New York Law, “the exercise of poor judgment in the handling of 

a weapon is a sufficient ground for revocation of a pistol license.” (A. 49 

(quoting Hock v. Scarpino, 185 A.D.2d 237 (2d Dep’t 1992).)  

2. Tesler files this suit, asserting his right 
to a handgun under LEOSA 

Tesler had a right to appeal Judge Cacace’s licensing decision in 

state court. N.Y. C.P.L.R. 7801, 7806; see, e.g., Matter of Kachalsky v. 

Cacace, 65 A.D.3d 1045 (2d Dep’t 2009). But he instead initiated this 
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suit in federal district court against Judge Cacace in her official 

capacity and Westchester County. (A. 2.)   

Tesler’s complaint asserts two claims, both predicated on LEOSA. 

His first cause of action seeks a declaration that he is “authorized to 

carry concealed firearms nationwide” because he is “a qualified retired 

law enforcement officer as defined in 18 USC 926C” (A. 166)—the 

provision of LEOSA that applies to retired law enforcement officers. 

The complaint alleges that Tesler is entitled to this relief both under 

LEOSA’s own terms and because LEOSA gives Tesler special rights to 

possess a firearm under the Second Amendment and New York’s 

statutory version of it. (A. 166-167.). See also N.Y. Civil Rights Law § 4 

(“A well regulated militia being necessary to the security of a free state, 

the right of the people to keep and bear arms cannot be infringed.”). 

Tesler’s second cause of action seeks an order annulling the license 

revocation based on Tesler’s status as a “qualified retired law 

enforcement officer” under LEOSA, and the rights that status confers 

upon him under LEOSA, the Second Amendment, and Civil Rights Law 

§ 4. (A. 166-167.)  
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At a status conference in early April 2014, the district court 

clarified this understanding of the complaint with plaintiff’s counsel, 

and advised counsel that it would grant leave to amend if plaintiff 

wished to “clarify” the two claims they had just discussed (Transcript 

(“Tr.) at 15, Dist. Ct. ECF No. 34), or add any claims (Tr. at 8). 

Plaintiff’s counsel declined.  (Tr. at 8, 15.)  

3. Tesler discovers that he does not in fact 
meet LEOSA’s requirements 

After the status conference, defendants moved to dismiss Tesler’s 

suit. The State’s motion argued, among other things, that Tesler’s 

complaint nowhere alleged that he met LEOSA’s firearms certification 

requirements. See Mem. of Law on Behalf of the Hon. Susan B. Cacace 

in Support of Mot. to Dismiss at 14, Dist. Ct. ECF No. 23 (citing 

18 U.S.C. § 926C(c)(4), (d)).  

In response, Tesler’s counsel submitted a declaration 

acknowledging that Tesler had not completed the required firearms 

training and hence was not covered by LEOSA. (A. 194.) Tesler’s 

counsel argued that the case nonetheless presented a live controversy 

and asked the district court to declare that Tesler “is qualified to apply 
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for [a LEOSA permit] if he takes the necessary course unaffected by the 

Westchester pistol permit revocation.” (A. 194.) Tesler’s counsel did not 

formally request leave to file an amended complaint. (A. 279.) 

4. The district court’s dismissal of Tesler’s suit  

The district court granted defendants’ motions to dismiss. (A. 272-

280.) Based on Tesler’s pleadings and his attorney’s statements, the 

court concluded that Tesler’s complaint was predicated on an assertion 

of LEOSA rights that Tesler concededly did not possess. (A. 275-276.) 

The court also observed that, in an effort to avoid dismissal of his suit, 

Tesler now appeared to be seeking new relief—specifically, a 

declaration that if he took the necessary firearms training course, the 

revocation of his Westchester handgun permit would not bar him from 

applying for a federal LEOSA permit. (A. 278.) The court determined 

that this requested modification failed on ripeness grounds, noting that 

Tesler had not (and might never) take and pass the firearms training 

course required by LEOSA. (A. 278-279.) Accordingly, because Tesler’s 

existing complaint did not state a viable claim and his proposed 

amendment to the complaint would be futile, the court dismissed 

Tesler’s suit. (A. 279-280.) This appeal followed.  
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STANDARD OF REVIEW 

A district court’s dismissal of a complaint under Rule 12(b)(6) is 

reviewed de novo. See Stratte-McClure, 2015 WL 136312, at *4. “To 

survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual 

matter, accepted as true, to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its 

face.” Id. (quotation marks omitted).  This Court also reviews de novo a 

district court’s “denial of leave to amend on the ground that the 

proposed new complaint does not state a claim on which relief can be 

granted.” Anderson News, L.L.C. v. Am. Media, Inc., 680 F.3d 162, 185 

(2d Cir. 2012).   

 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Plaintiff Michael Tesler’s complaint challenges the revocation of 

his state handgun permit based on a federal statute—the Law 

Enforcement Officers Safety Act, 18 U.S.C. § 926C—requiring firearm 

certifications that Tesler does not currently have. After discovering this 

defect in his pleading, Tesler asked the district court to change his 

requested relief to a declaration that if he undertakes the necessary 

firearms training, he may apply for LEOSA authorization to possess a 
 11 

https://web2.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?returnto=BusinessNameReturnTo&db=BC-COMPANYSRBD&rs=WLW15.01&lvbp=T&vr=2.0&rp=%2ffind%2fdefault.wl&sv=Split&fn=_top&findtype=l&mt=430&docname=CIK%280000895421%29
https://web2.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?returnto=BusinessNameReturnTo&db=BC-COMPANYSRBD&rs=WLW15.01&lvbp=T&vr=2.0&rp=%2ffind%2fdefault.wl&sv=Split&fn=_top&findtype=l&mt=430&docname=CIK%28LE00118278%29
https://web2.westlaw.com/find/default.wl?returnto=BusinessNameReturnTo&db=BC-COMPANYSRBD&rs=WLW15.01&lvbp=T&vr=2.0&rp=%2ffind%2fdefault.wl&sv=Split&fn=_top&findtype=l&mt=430&docname=CIK%28LE10228948%29


concealed firearm. The district court correctly concluded that allowing 

Tesler’s requested modification to his complaint would be futile because 

his proposed new claim depends on multiple future contingencies and 

thus is not ripe for adjudication.  

Because Tesler’s complaint does not contain any viable claims and 

his proposed amendment to the complaint would be futile, the district 

court correctly concluded that Tesler’s suit should be dismissed. The 

court did not consider whether Tesler could bring a viable challenge to 

the standard of proof employed in New York firearm license revocation 

proceedings because Tesler’s complaint does not include that claim and 

Tesler never sought to add it to his complaint, despite being given 

multiple opportunities to amend the complaint’s claims and theories. 

Tesler’s arguments concerning what he believes to be the correct 

standard of proof are thus not properly before this Court. Moreover, 

even if these arguments were properly presented, they lack sufficient 

merit to save Tesler’s suit from dismissal. This Court should 

accordingly affirm the district court’s order granting the State’s motion 

to dismiss. 
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ARGUMENT 

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY 
DISMISSED TESLER’S SUIT 

A. Tesler’s Complaint Is Predicated on LEOSA.  

Tesler’s complaint asserts two causes of action, both of which are 

predicated on Tesler’s supposed status as a qualified law enforcement 

officer under LEOSA. The first cause of action in Tesler’s complaint 

seeks a declaration that Tesler is “authorized to carry concealed 

firearms nationwide” because he is “a qualified retired law enforcement 

officer as defined in 18 USC 926C” (A. 166), the provision of LEOSA 

that applies to retired law enforcement officers. The complaint alleges 

that LEOSA entitles Tesler to this relief both under the statute’s own 

terms and by giving Tesler a special Second Amendment right to carry 

concealed firearms. (A. 166.) 

The complaint’s second cause of action is a state law claim for 

annulment of the decision revoking Tesler’s Westchester County 

handgun permit, see N.Y. C.P.L.R 7806, which Tesler seeks to bring 

under the district court’s “pendent state supplemental jurisdiction” (A. 

165). That claim too is predicated on assertions about Tesler’s status as 
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a “qualified retired law enforcement officer” under LEOSA, and the 

rights that status confers upon him under LEOSA and the Second 

Amendment. (A. 166-167.) 

The district court confirmed this reading of Tesler’s complaint at an 

April 2014 status conference. Through a colloquy with Tesler’s attorney, 

the district court established that the complaint was grounded in Tesler’s 

assertions that “he meets all [LEOSA’s] conditions and ought to be 

allowed to carry” a concealed firearm. (Tr. at 3.) The court further 

established that Tesler’s “first claim is for [a] declaratory judgment that 

the plaintiff meets the requirements of [§ 926C] and the second is for 

annulment of the revocation of the Westchester County permit.” (Tr. at 5.)  

 Subsequently, Tesler’s attorney discovered that Tesler had not 

satisfied LEOSA’s annual firearms training requirement. (A. 194.) He 

then sought to change the relief requested by the complaint, asking in 

his opposition to defendants’ motions to dismiss for a declaration that 

Tesler would be qualified to apply for a firearm permit under LEOSA if 

Tesler took the required firearms training course. (A. 194.) 

Based on Tesler’s pleadings and statements, the district court 

properly determined that Tesler’s suit is predicated on an assertion of 
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rights under LEOSA. (A. 275.)  The court also correctly analyzed the 

way in which Tesler’s claims are affected by his concession that he does 

not currently meet LEOSA’s requirements. (A. 275.)  As the court 

concluded, the first cause of action pleaded in Tesler’s complaint fails on 

its face “because by his own admission, Plaintiff is not a qualified 

retired law enforcement officer” within the meaning of LEOSA. (A. 278.) 

And the complaint’s second cause of action likewise fails because Tesler 

“lacks a viable claim to vacate” the administrative decision revoking his 

state handgun license. (A. 275.)   

B. The District Court Correctly Concluded that 
Tesler’s Requested Change to His Complaint Fails 
on Ripeness Grounds and Would Thus Be Futile.   

Because the claims set forth in Tesler’s complaint plainly fail, the 

only real question raised by his appeal is whether the court should have 

permitted Tesler to amend his complaint for the purpose of seeking “a 

declaration that [he] is qualified to apply for a LEOSA permit if he 

takes the necessary course unaffected by the Westchester pistol permit 

revocation.” (A. 278 (internal quotation marks and brackets omitted); 

see also A. 279.) Although leave to amend a complaint “generally should 

be freely granted[,] . . . [l]eave to amend may be properly denied if the 
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amendment would be futile.” Anderson News, L.L.C., 680 F.3d at 185. 

As explained below, the district court correctly determined that Tesler’s 

proposed modification to his complaint would be futile and that 

dismissal of Tesler’s suit was thus warranted. 

1. Issues depending on future contingent events 
are not considered ripe for adjudication.  

The district court correctly held that Tesler’s requested modification  

to his complaint would not result in a viable legal claim because the issues 

Tesler sought to present were speculative and therefore unripe. The 

ripeness doctrine’s basic rationale “is to prevent the courts, through 

avoidance of premature adjudication, from entangling themselves in 

abstract disagreements over administrative policies.” N.Y. Civil Liberties 

Union v. Grandeau, 528 F.3d 122, 130-31 (2d Cir. 2008)  (quotation marks 

omitted). “A claim is not ripe for adjudication if it rests upon contingent 

future events that may not occur as anticipated, or indeed may not 

occur at all.” Texas v. United States, 523 U.S. 296, 300 (1998). 

Constitutional ripeness requirements are jurisdictional and require 

a showing that the issues to be adjudicated are not “abstract by [their] 

prematurity.” Simmonds v. INS, 326 F.3d 351, 358 (2d Cir. 2003). 
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Prudential ripeness seeks to avoid entangling the courts with issues 

that would benefit from further factual development or would for some 

other reason be easier to adjudicate in the future. N.Y. Civil Liberties 

Union, 528 F.3d at 133-34; Simmonds, 326 F.3d at 359. An issue is 

prudentially unripe for adjudication if it is “contingent on future events 

or may never occur” and the parties will endure no hardship if decision 

is withheld. Simmonds, 326 F.3d at 359 (quotation marks omitted). 

2. Tesler’s proposed new claim implicates 
multiple future contingencies. 

In the proceedings below, Tesler proposed to address the fact that 

he does not currently meet LEOSA’s requirements by modifying his 

requested relief. The new relief he sought was a declaration that 

notwithstanding “the Westchester pistol permit revocation,” he “is 

qualified to apply for a LEOSA permit if he takes the necessary 

[firearms training] course.” (A. 194, 278.)  

As the district court observed, that is essentially a request for “an 

advisory opinion.” (A. 278.) The court correctly determined that because 

“[Tesler] does not qualify for the protection of LEOSA and might never do 
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so, . . . any conflict between LEOSA and local permitting regulations is not 

sufficiently immediate” to be justiciable at the present time. (A. 278.)    

Tesler may or may not attempt to receive the necessary firearms 

training. If he does, he may or may not be found by his former employer 

(the NYPD) or by the State of New York to have met the standards for 

firearms proficiency for active duty officers. 18 U.S.C. § 926C(a), (d)(1), 

(d)(2). And the agency or entity from which Tesler seeks the LEOSA 

certification—that is, the NYPD or State of New York—may or may not 

take the position that the revocation of Tesler’s state handgun permit 

disqualifies Tesler from seeking a federal LEOSA permit. Finally, 

Tesler’s future circumstances could render him ineligible to apply for a 

LEOSA permit on other grounds. Given the facts found in Tesler’s license 

revocation proceeding (A. 274), it is conceivable Tesler might in future be 

found unqualified to carry a firearm for reasons of mental health. See 

18 U.S.C. § 926C(c)(5). Tesler’s requested declaratory relief thus 

implicates multiple contingent factual matters “beyond the prescience of 

this court.” United States v. Balon, 384 F.3d 38, 46 (2d Cir. 2004).  

Tesler incorrectly argues that his proposed new claim is ripe 

because he is presently unable to lawfully possess firearms. Corrected 
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Br. for Plaintiff-Appellant (“Br.”) at 17, CA2 ECF No. 38. That 

argument overlooks the disconnect between Tesler’s requested 

declaratory judgment and the ultimate relief he purports to seek: 

“restoration of his pistol carry status as it was on and before September 

12, 2013.” Id. (See also A. 166-68.) A declaratory judgment stating that 

Tesler is qualified to apply for a LEOSA permit if he takes the 

necessary firearms training course (see A. 194, 278) would not have the 

effect of authorizing Tesler to carry a firearm, either directly or by 

annulling the revocation of his New York handgun permit. Thus, rather 

than demonstrating the ripeness of his proposed new claim, Tesler’s 

arguments show that the claim also fails to meet Article III’s 

redressability requirements. For a claim to be justiciable, “it must be 

likely, as opposed to merely speculative, that the [plaintiff’s alleged] 

injury will be redressed by a favorable decision.” Lujan v. Defenders of 

Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560–61 (1992) (quotation marks omitted). 

C. Tesler’s Challenge to the Evidentiary Standard 
Applied in the Revocation Proceeding Was Not 
Properly Pled and Is in Any Event Meritless. 

Although Tesler’s brief to this Court attacks the standard of proof 

that New York law requires for firearm license revocation proceedings 
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(Br. at 18-20), Tesler did not plead any such claim in his complaint (A. 

166-168). Nor did he ever seek to add such a claim to his complaint. (See 

Tr. at 15 (declining court’s invitation to “amend to clarify or make clear 

your theories and your claims”); A. 194 (asking to change only the 

complaint’s request for a declaratory judgment about Tesler’s LEOSA 

status); A. 279 (noting that “Plaintiff has not requested leave to file an 

Amended Complaint . . .”).)  

Tesler’s arguments that the revocation should have proceeded 

under a “clear and convincing evidence” standard rather than a 

“substantial evidence” standard (Br. at 18) are thus not properly before 

this Court. See Wright v. Ernst & Young LLP, 152 F.3d 169, 178 (2d Cir. 

1998) (a party may not amend its complaint through papers opposing a 

dispositive motion in the district court); In re American Exp. Co. 

Shareholder Litig., 39 F.3d 395, 402 (2d Cir. 1994) (district court did not 

improperly deny leave to amend where plaintiff never sought to add 

claim to its complaint). 

And those arguments in any event lack merit. Federal appellate 

courts have not generally perceived any constitutional infirmity with 

application of a “substantial evidence” standard in licensing proceedings 
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that implicate non-monetary constitutional interests or “threaten the 

individual involved with . . . ‘stigma.’” Br. at 19.  See, e.g., Costanich v. 

Dep’t of Social & Health Srvs., 627 F.3d 1101, 1107, 1109 n.10 (9th Cir. 

2010) (noting administrative law judge’s application of “substantial 

evidence” standard in proceeding to revoke foster care license and 

terminate guardianship of dependents). Moreover, a statutory 

evidentiary standard should not be changed by the courts if the current 

standard reflects a reasonable legislative judgment about how the risk 

of error should be allocated between the State and a private party. See 

Addington v. Texas, 441 U.S. 418, 423, 427 (1979); see also Kachalsky, 

701 F.3d at 94-97 (the State’s interest in regulating handguns in public 

and protecting the public from unsafe users and uses of handguns are 

“compelling” and were “‘enshrined with[in] the scope of the Second 

Amendment’ when it was adopted”) (quoting District of Columbia v. 

Heller, 554 U.S. 570, 634 (2008)). 

 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the district court’s dismissal of the 

complaint should be affirmed.  
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United States Code Annotated
Title 18. Crimes and Criminal Procedure (Refs & Annos)

Part I. Crimes (Refs & Annos)
Chapter 44. Firearms (Refs & Annos)

18 U.S.C.A. § 926B

§ 926B. Carrying of concealed firearms by qualified law enforcement officers

Effective: January 2, 2013
Currentness

(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of the law of any State or any political subdivision thereof, an individual who is a
qualified law enforcement officer and who is carrying the identification required by subsection (d) may carry a concealed
firearm that has been shipped or transported in interstate or foreign commerce, subject to subsection (b).

(b) This section shall not be construed to supersede or limit the laws of any State that--

(1) permit private persons or entities to prohibit or restrict the possession of concealed firearms on their property; or

(2) prohibit or restrict the possession of firearms on any State or local government property, installation, building, base, or
park.

(c) As used in this section, the term “qualified law enforcement officer” means an employee of a governmental agency who--

(1) is authorized by law to engage in or supervise the prevention, detection, investigation, or prosecution of, or the
incarceration of any person for, any violation of law, and has statutory powers of arrest or apprehension under section 807(b)
of title 10, United States Code (article 7(b) of the Uniform Code of Military Justice);

(2) is authorized by the agency to carry a firearm;

(3) is not the subject of any disciplinary action by the agency which could result in suspension or loss of police powers;

(4) meets standards, if any, established by the agency which require the employee to regularly qualify in the use of a firearm;

(5) is not under the influence of alcohol or another intoxicating or hallucinatory drug or substance; and

(6) is not prohibited by Federal law from receiving a firearm.
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(d) The identification required by this subsection is the photographic identification issued by the governmental agency for
which the individual is employed that identifies the employee as a police officer or law enforcement officer of the agency.

(e) As used in this section, the term “firearm”--

(1) except as provided in this subsection, has the same meaning as in section 921 of this title;

(2) includes ammunition not expressly prohibited by Federal law or subject to the provisions of the National Firearms Act; and

(3) does not include--

(A) any machinegun (as defined in section 5845 of the National Firearms Act);

(B) any firearm silencer (as defined in section 921 of this title); and

(C) any destructive device (as defined in section 921 of this title).

(f) For the purposes of this section, a law enforcement officer of the Amtrak Police Department, a law enforcement officer of
the Federal Reserve, or a law enforcement or police officer of the executive branch of the Federal Government qualifies as an
employee of a governmental agency who is authorized by law to engage in or supervise the prevention, detection, investigation,
or prosecution of, or the incarceration of any person for, any violation of law, and has statutory powers of arrest or apprehension
under section 807(b) of title 10, United States Code (article 7(b) of the Uniform Code of Military Justice).

CREDIT(S)
(Added Pub.L. 108-277, § 2(a), July 22, 2004, 118 Stat. 865; amended Pub.L. 111-272, § 2(a), (b), Oct. 12, 2010, 124 Stat.

2855; Pub.L. 112-239, Div. A, Title X, § 1089(1), Jan. 2, 2013, 126 Stat. 1970.)

Notes of Decisions (1)

18 U.S.C.A. § 926B, 18 USCA § 926B
Current through P.L. 113-294 (excluding P.L. 113-235, 113-283, 113-287, and 113-291) approved 12-19-2014

End of Document © 2015 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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United States Code Annotated
Title 18. Crimes and Criminal Procedure (Refs & Annos)

Part I. Crimes (Refs & Annos)
Chapter 44. Firearms (Refs & Annos)

18 U.S.C.A. § 926C

§ 926C. Carrying of concealed firearms by qualified retired law enforcement officers

Effective: January 2, 2013
Currentness

(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of the law of any State or any political subdivision thereof, an individual who is a
qualified retired law enforcement officer and who is carrying the identification required by subsection (d) may carry a concealed
firearm that has been shipped or transported in interstate or foreign commerce, subject to subsection (b).

(b) This section shall not be construed to supersede or limit the laws of any State that--

(1) permit private persons or entities to prohibit or restrict the possession of concealed firearms on their property; or

(2) prohibit or restrict the possession of firearms on any State or local government property, installation, building, base, or
park.

(c) As used in this section, the term “qualified retired law enforcement officer” means an individual who--

(1) separated from service in good standing from service with a public agency as a law enforcement officer;

(2) before such separation, was authorized by law to engage in or supervise the prevention, detection, investigation, or
prosecution of, or the incarceration of any person for, any violation of law, and had statutory powers of arrest or apprehension
under section 807(b) of title 10, United States Code (article 7(b) of the Uniform Code of Military Justice);

(3)(A) before such separation, served as a law enforcement officer for an aggregate of 10 years or more; or

(B) separated from service with such agency, after completing any applicable probationary period of such service, due to a
service-connected disability, as determined by such agency;

(4) during the most recent 12-month period, has met, at the expense of the individual, the standards for qualification in
firearms training for active law enforcement officers, as determined by the former agency of the individual, the State in which
the individual resides or, if the State has not established such standards, either a law enforcement agency within the State
in which the individual resides or the standards used by a certified firearms instructor that is qualified to conduct a firearms
qualification test for active duty officers within that State;
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(5)(A) has not been officially found by a qualified medical professional employed by the agency to be unqualified for reasons
relating to mental health and as a result of this finding will not be issued the photographic identification as described in
subsection (d)(1); or

(B) has not entered into an agreement with the agency from which the individual is separating from service in which that
individual acknowledges he or she is not qualified under this section for reasons relating to mental health and for those
reasons will not receive or accept the photographic identification as described in subsection (d)(1);

(6) is not under the influence of alcohol or another intoxicating or hallucinatory drug or substance; and

(7) is not prohibited by Federal law from receiving a firearm.

(d) The identification required by this subsection is--

(1) a photographic identification issued by the agency from which the individual separated from service as a law enforcement
officer that identifies the person as having been employed as a police officer or law enforcement officer and indicates that
the individual has, not less recently than one year before the date the individual is carrying the concealed firearm, been tested
or otherwise found by the agency to meet the active duty standards for qualification in firearms training as established by the
agency to carry a firearm of the same type as the concealed firearm; or

(2)(A) a photographic identification issued by the agency from which the individual separated from service as a law
enforcement officer that identifies the person as having been employed as a police officer or law enforcement officer; and

(B) a certification issued by the State in which the individual resides or by a certified firearms instructor that is qualified
to conduct a firearms qualification test for active duty officers within that State that indicates that the individual has, not
less than 1 year before the date the individual is carrying the concealed firearm, been tested or otherwise found by the State
or a certified firearms instructor that is qualified to conduct a firearms qualification test for active duty officers within that
State to have met--

(I) the active duty standards for qualification in firearms training, as established by the State, to carry a firearm of the
same type as the concealed firearm; or

(II) if the State has not established such standards, standards set by any law enforcement agency within that State to carry
a firearm of the same type as the concealed firearm.

(e) As used in this section--

(1) the term “firearm”--
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(A) except as provided in this paragraph, has the same meaning as in section 921 of this title;

(B) includes ammunition not expressly prohibited by Federal law or subject to the provisions of the National Firearms
Act; and

(C) does not include--

(i) any machinegun (as defined in section 5845 of the National Firearms Act);

(ii) any firearm silencer (as defined in section 921 of this title); and

(iii) any destructive device (as defined in section 921 of this title); and

(2) the term “service with a public agency as a law enforcement officer” includes service as a law enforcement officer of the
Amtrak Police Department, service as a law enforcement officer of the Federal Reserve, or service as a law enforcement or
police officer of the executive branch of the Federal Government.

CREDIT(S)
(Added Pub.L. 108-277, § 3(a), July 22, 2004, 118 Stat. 866; amended Pub.L. 111-272, § 2(c), Oct. 12, 2010, 124 Stat. 2855;

Pub.L. 112-239, Div. A, Title X, § 1089(2), Jan. 2, 2013, 126 Stat. 1971.)

Notes of Decisions (4)

18 U.S.C.A. § 926C, 18 USCA § 926C
Current through P.L. 113-294 (excluding P.L. 113-235, 113-283, 113-287, and 113-291) approved 12-19-2014
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